2009

Larry Roth v. Ronald Joseph, M.D. and Northen Utah Healthcare Corporation dba St. Mark's Hospital : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has original jurisdiction under U.C.A. §78A-3-102(3) (j); the Supreme Court transferred this case to the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to U.C.A. §78A-3-102(4).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Issue #1: Did the trial court abuse its discretion in setting aside the default certificate against St. Mark's for its failure to file an answer in the prescribed time limit and in denying Roth's motion for default judgment based upon St. Mark's claim of simple clerical error?

Preservation of Issue: This issue was preserved upon the filing of Roth's Motion for Judgment by Default Against St. Mark's [R 47-49]¹, Roth's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Judgment by Default Against St. Mark's [R50-63] and Roth's Reply Memorandum [R 84-93] setting forth a factual and legal basis for the entry of the Default Certificate and the Default Judgment and challenging St. Mark's basis for striking Certificate of Default and denial of motion for judgment by default.

Issue # 2: Did the trial court err in finding that there was no genuine issue of material fact to dispute that on October 13, 2004, or at the very latest, January 5,

¹ References to the trial court record appear as [R. ____].

2005, Plaintiff discovered, or through the use of reasonable diligence should have discovered, his legal injury?

Preservation of Issue: Roth in his Affidavit [233-237] testifies that he did not discover his legal injury as such relates to the negligence of Dr. Joseph which caused his injury until and beginning on January 25, 2007 through August 2007. See ¶¶ 13, 14, 15, 16, 17 and 20 of Roth Affidavit [R 235-236]. Roth's allegations set forth in his Complaint [R. 1-14] set forth genuine issues of material fact. See allegations at ¶¶ 16, 21, 22, 23, 24, 25, 26, 29, 30, 31, 39, 40 and 41 [R 3-6]. Roth in his Memorandum in Opposition to Dr. Joseph's Motion for Summary Judgment sets forth genuine issues of material fact as to when he first discovered his legal injury. See ¶¶ 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, 10, 11 and 12 [R 220-222]. Roth disputed Dr. Joseph's claim in his "Statement of Facts" contained in his Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment that the June 8, 2004 letter was included in the medical records that Roth obtained on January 5, 2005. [R219-220 at ¶¶ 15, 17 and 23 and Roth Affidavit [R 235 at ¶¶ 15 and 16].

Issue #3: Did the trial court err in finding that there was no genuine issue of material fact to support Roth's claim that he was prevented from discovering misconduct on the part of Dr. Joseph because Dr. Joseph had affirmatively acted to fraudulently conceal any alleged misconduct?

Preservation of Issue: ¶¶ 10, 11, 12, 24, 27 et. seq. of the Complaint [R1-14] reflect the doctor/patient relationship between Roth and Dr. Joseph. ¶¶ 19 through 37 of the Complaint [3-6] reveal alleged facts Dr. Joseph was required to disclose but affirmatively concealed from Roth. ¶¶ 13 through 25 of Roth Affidavit [R 235-237] set forth genuine issues of material fact as to material medical information Dr. Joseph was required to disclose to his patient, Roth, but did not. Roth in his Memorandum in Opposition to Dr. Joseph's Motion for Summary Judgment [R 215-257] disputes Dr. Joseph's Statement of Facts numbered 2, 7 and 12 as such relate to Dr. Joseph's allegation that he had in fact tattooed the polypectomy site (pages 3, 4 and 5 Roth's opposition memorandum [R 217-219]. Roth disputed Dr. Joseph's claim in his "Statement of Facts" contained in his Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment that the June 8, 2004 letter was included in the medical records that Roth obtained on January 5, 2005. [R219-220 at ¶¶ 15, 17 and 23 and Roth Affidavit [R 235 at ¶¶ 15 and 16].

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Arbogast Family Trust v. River Crossings, 191 P.3d 39 (Utah Ct. Appl. 2008) "[A] trial court has broad discretion in deciding whether to set aside a default [judgment]." (quoting Lund v. Brown, 11 P.3d 277 (Utah 2000) However, "the court's discretion is not unlimited." *Id.*).

At the summary judgment stage, "the judge's function is not himself to weigh the evidence and determine the truth of the matter but to determine whether there is a genuine issue for trial." Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 249 (1986).

In order for nonmoving party to oppose successfully a motion for summary judgment and send the issue to the fact-finder, it is not necessary for the party to prove its legal theory; it is only necessary for nonmoving party to show facts controverting the facts stated in moving party's affidavit. Salt Lake City Corp. v. James Constructors, Inc. 761 P.2d 42 (Utah Ct App 1988).

This court reviews a trial court's legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment for correctness, and views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." Forsberg v. Bovis Lend Lease, Inc., 184 P.3d 610 (Utah Ct. App 2008) (internal quotation marks omitted).

The district court's application of a statute of limitations is a question of law, which we review for correctness. Nolan v. Hoopiaina (In re Hoopiaina Trust), 144 P.3d 1129 (UT 2006).

DETERMINATIVE LAW

Rule 55(c) *URCP* provides for the setting aside of a default certificate and Rule 60(b), *URCP*, provides the factors that are relevant to a determination of whether defendant has shown “good cause” under Rule 55(c) *URCP*. St. Mark’s in this case is claiming excusable neglect.

In order to demonstrate that Default was due to excusable neglect, “... movant must show that he has used due diligence and that he was prevented from appearing by circumstances over which he had no control.” Black’s Title, Inc. v. Utah State Ins. Dept., 991 P.2d 607 (Ut Appl 1999) quoting Airkem Intermountain, Inc. v. Parker, 513 P.2d 429, 431 (1973).

The Medical Malpractice statute of limitations, U.C.A. §78B-3-404, provides as follows:

(1) A malpractice action against a health care provider shall be commenced within two years after the plaintiff or patient discovers, or through the use of reasonable diligence should have discovered the injury, whichever first occurs, but not to exceed four years after the date of the alleged act, omission, neglect, or occurrence.

U.C.A. §78B-3-404 further provides as follows:

(2) Notwithstanding Subsection (1):

(a) (Omitted)

(b) in an action where it is alleged that a patient has been prevented from discovering misconduct on the part of a health care provider because that health care provider has affirmatively acted to fraudulently conceal the alleged misconduct, the claim shall be barred unless commenced within one year after the

plaintiff or patient discovers, or through the use of reasonable diligence, should have discovered the fraudulent concealment, whichever first occurs.

Supreme Court in Chapman v. Primary Children's Hospital, 784 P.2d 1181, 1184 (Utah 1989) in reference to §78-14-4(1)(b) stated, "...we interpret the "discovery of fraudulent concealment" provision of the statute as incorporating discovery of legal injury as well as discovery of fraudulent concealment."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arose out of a botched surgery performed on Roth on May 24, 2004. [R1-10, ¶¶16, 20 & 21] The surgery was performed in order to remove a polypectomy site (this is a site where the GI doctor snipes a polyp in a patient's colon) that was suspect of being cancerous. [R 3 ¶15] Dr. Joseph was the doctor that performed the *polypectomy*. [R2 ¶12] *Dr. Joseph informed the general surgeon who performed the May 24, 2004 surgery that he [Dr. Joseph] placed tattoo markings above and below the polypectomy site in order to show its location in the colon.* [R 3 ¶18] Dr. Joseph also described the polypectomy site in his medical report at being 15 cm from the anal verge and further described its location in the distal sigmoid portion of the colon. [R 3 ¶¶13, 19, R 360] During the surgery the general surgeon was unable to locate the tattoos and as Dr. Joseph was unavailable Dr. Joseph's partner Dr. Pedersen went over Dr. Joseph's medical chart with the general surgeon and then Dr. Pedersen joined the general surgeon in

the operating room (OR). [R 133 ¶7] in order to assist the general surgeon in locating the purported tattoo markings. Before Dr. Pedersen arrived in the OR the general surgeon had removed 25 cm of Roth's distal sigmoid colon. [R133 ¶8] Dr. Pedersen was unable to locate the tattoos or the polypectomy site. [R5 ¶31]

During discovery in Roth's action against the general surgeon, Roth concluded Dr. Joseph was negligent and Roth initiated his legal action against Dr. Joseph by serving him with the statutory requisite Notice of Intent to Commence an Action on May 9, 2007 [R 137, ¶24] and followed this with filing suit on January 17, 2008 [R 1-14] and serving Dr. Joseph on March 25, 2008. [R 31-34]. Dr. Joseph filed his Answer on April 17, 2008. [R 15-26] St. Mark's was served on March 25, 2008 [R 28-30]. A Certificate of Default against St. Mark's was entered on May 6, 2008, 42 days after St. Mark's was served and after they failed to file an answer. [R35]

STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Northern was served with the Summons and Complaint in this matter on March 25, 2008. [R 28-30]

2. Northern is a Utah corporation doing business as St. Mark's Hospital in Salt Lake County, Utah, however, its headquarters is shown as in Nashville, Tennessee and out of caution Plaintiff provided thirty (30) days on the

face of the Summons for it to file an answer in this matter, setting April 24, 2008 as the due date.[R 50-51 & 60].

3. This Court entered a Default against Northern on May 6, 2008.

[R 35]

4. May 9, 2008, Northern files an unauthorized pleading, entitled Defendant Northern Utah Healthcare Corporation dba St. Mark's Hospital's Answer to Plaintiff's Complaint and Joinder in Jury Demand. [36-46]

PLEASE NOTE: The following ¶¶ 5 through 37 are from the Complaint [R 1-6]

5. Roth is a resident of Draper, Salt Lake County, state of Utah.

6. Dr. Joseph performs professional services as a physician and does business in Salt Lake County, state of Utah.

7. St. Mark's maintains its hospital facility and offices in Salt Lake City, State of Utah.

8. A Certificate of Compliance from the Utah Department of Commerce was issued for the parties herein, indicating compliance with *UCA* §78-14-12.

9. At all times relevant herein Dr. Joseph was and is a licensed physician in the state of Utah.

10. That commencing on or about April 28, 2004 Dr. Joseph provided medical care and treatment to Roth.

11. Dr. Joseph performed a colonoscopy on Roth on April 28, 2004.

12. Dr. Joseph removed from Roth's colon a large polyp of about 2.5 cm in size along with several small polyps measured in terms of millimeters.

13. Dr. Joseph did prepare his medical report indicating the removal of these polyps from Roth's colon and did state that the large 2.5 cm polyp was located at 15 cm from the anal verge in part of this report and in the same report stated that the large polyp was located in the distal sigmoid colon.

14. That the April 28, 2004 pathology report for the polyps removed by Dr. Joseph as specimens indicated that the large polyp had cancerous cells probably touching the cauterized surgical margin where Dr. Joseph had removed the large polyp.

15. Roth was referred to a general surgeon by Dr. Joseph for the resection of the surgical site where Dr. Joseph removed the large polyp ("polypectomy site").

16. Roth discovered in the summer of 2007 that Dr. Joseph described the area of concern as "Adenocarcinoma in distal sigmoid" to Radiology when Roth had been referred over to radiology for out patient care to perform a CT scan on or about May 4, 2004

19. Dr. Joseph provided the general surgeon with a copy of his medical report describing the location in the colon where the polypectomy site was, indicating to a general surgeon that it was in the distal sigmoid colon.

20. Dr. Joseph used ink for tattooing under the brand name SPOT.

21. Roth first became aware through the deposition testimony of the general surgeon on January 26, 2007 that Dr. Joseph had experienced difficulty using SPOT, including it disappearing or fading shortly after administration as opposed to remaining as a permanent tattoo for marking purposes.

22. The general surgeon in a separate action testified on January 26, 2007 and August 2007 that he discussed in June 2004 with Dr. Joseph his concern of not being informed prior to the surgery he performed on Roth that Dr. Joseph had experienced problems such as fading of the SPOT tattoos.

23. The general surgeon in a separate action testified on January 26, 2007 and August 2007 that he told Dr. Joseph in June 2004 that he did not see the tattoos and that he thinks he may have removed the polypectomy site, but was not sure and that he, Dr. Joseph need perform a follow up colonoscopy as soon as practical.

24. Dr. Joseph concealed this information from Roth and in fact led Roth to believe he did not have any knowledge that the site had not been removed until he performed a routine colonoscopy on Roth in October 2004 and at no time did Dr. Joseph inform Roth of having any problems with the SPOT tattoos.

25. Roth did not discover until it was pointed out by Dr. Stephen Porter, another Gastroenterologist in July 2007 that Dr. Joseph's anatomical description of the location of the polypectomy site was in a different location than Dr. Joseph's centimeter description and that it is well known by gastroenterologists that surgeon's used anatomical description for locating surgical sites as opposed to metric measurement.

26. Dr. Stephen Porter in a deposition described this error in telling the surgeon the wrong location of the polypectomy site as "a train wreck waiting to happen."

27. Dr. Joseph after performing a routine follow up colonoscopy on Roth on October 13, 2004 expressed that he was surprised that the subject polypectomy site was still there and had not been resected.

28. Dr. Joseph concealed material medical information from his patient Roth that he, Dr. Joseph did in fact describe a different and incorrect area for Dr. Voorhees to resect.

29. Roth learned for the first time on January 26, 2007 that the general surgeon informed Dr. Joseph in June 2004 that he could not see the tattooing that Dr. Joseph claims he placed above and below the polypectomy site.

30. Dr. Joseph testified on January 25, 2007 that he placed ink tattoos above and below the polypectomy site.

31. The general surgeon testified on January 26, 2007 that he could not identify the tattoo's and that Dr. Joseph's partner Dr. Peder J. Pedersen using a lighted sigmoid scope searched Roth's rectum during the May 24 surgery and could not see any tattoos in the area that Dr. Joseph claims he placed tattoos.

32. Dr. Pedersen testified that he expended about 20 minutes scoping in a small confined space of the rectum looking for the tattooing that Dr. Joseph claims he placed above and below the polypectomy site.

33. Dr. Pedersen's inability to see any tattoos in the rectum is in contrast to and inconsistent with Dr. Randall Burt and Dr. Willis, while performing another colonoscopy on Roth about six months later and subsequent to the routine follow-up by the Dr. Joseph on October 13, 2004, clearly seeing tattooing above and below a fresh polypectomy site that was located in the rectum at about 15 cm.

34. Dr. Joseph intentionally concealed from Roth that he had failed to tattoo the polypectomy site prior to Roth's surgery to remove the polypectomy site, and that this intentional concealment was done to hide Dr. Joseph's negligence.

35. Alternatively Dr. Joseph intentionally concealed from Roth that he used a tattoo product that he knew to be unreliable and known by him to prematurely disappear or fade.

36. That in furtherance of this fraudulent concealment to cover up the failure to tattoo or to use a reliable ink, Dr. Joseph re-tattooed Roth on October 13, 2004 when Roth was unconscious during the follow up routine colonoscopy.

37. Dr. Joseph failed to disclosed and affirmatively concealed from Roth that he became aware by June 2004 that the general surgeon likely did not remove the polypectomy site and in furtherance of concealing this known fact, Dr. Joseph informed Roth that he became aware for the first time of the failure in the resection of the polypectomy site when he was performing the routine follow up colonoscopy on Roth in October 2004.

38. Roth initiated a legal action against Dr. Voorhees, charging him with medical malpractice on May 24, 2007. [R 137]

39. Roth became aware for the first time during the deposition of Dr. Joseph on January 25, 2007 that Dr. Voorhees had sent a letter dated June 8, 2004 to Dr. Joseph as a follow up to their conversation that day and that the letter expressed Dr. Voorhees' concern over the type of ink dye being used by Dr. Joseph. [221 ¶4]

40. The June 8, 2004 letter from Dr. Voorhees to Dr. Joseph that is referred to in the preceding paragraph was not included in the medical records that Roth requested from Dr. Joseph in December 2004. [R 221 ¶5]

41. Dr. Joseph led Plaintiff to believe by expressing shock and surprise after the follow up colonoscopy on October 13, 2004 that the polypectomy site remained intact and that he [Dr. Joseph] had no idea that Dr. Voorhees did not resect the polypectomy. [R 221-222 ¶8]

42. In the Voorhees Action in August 2007 Dr. Voorhees testified that he believed that the polypectomy site was in the distal sigmoid colon. [R 222 ¶10]

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Roth upon this appeal is asking the Utah Court of Appeals to reverse the Trial Court's granting St. Mark's Motion to Set Aside the Default Certificate entered by the Clerk of the District Court against St. Mark's for its failure to file an Answer within the time prescribed by the Utah Rules of

Civil Procedure as well as with the time period that was set forth on the face of the Summons and to further reverse the Trial Court's Denial of Roth's Motion for Judgment by Default and to remand for an evidentiary hearing on the issue of damages. St. Mark's argument for setting aside the Certificate of Default and for striking Roth's Motion for Default Judgment was that Roth was required to serve counsel and Roth's counsel refused to vacate the default certificate when informed by St. Mark's that the "...fact that St. Mark's Answer was filed late due to a simple calendaring error,..." "Lastly, justice and equity requires that the Default certificate be set aside as there would be no prejudice to any party in the case." [64-65] Although, Roth requested oral argument [R 84] the Trial Court rendered its decision by Minute Entry and Amended Minute Entry based upon the filings and without oral argument. [R121-124]. The primary issue revolves around whether or not the alleged simple calendaring mistake rises to the level of excusable neglect required by the Utah Courts. In order to establish excusable neglect, a party must provide the court with specific details to demonstrate due diligence in spite of uncontrollable circumstances. See Blacks Title, Inc. v. Utah State Ins. Dept., 991 P.2d 607, 611 (UT Ct Appl 1999). There was no showing of any "uncontrollable circumstances" and there was no detail to demonstrate diligence. The only showing was that for some unknown

reason the paralegal assigned by the law firm to calendar deadlines set the deadline for 45 days for answering the summons and complaint that reflected on the face of the Summons that St. Mark's had 30 days to answer. Roth provided the Court with several Utah and sister state cases where similar acts did not rise to the level of "excusable neglect." [R 84-93]

As for there being no prejudice the Utah Supreme Court aptly addressed this issue in Airkem Intermountain, Inc. v. Parker, 513 P.2d 429, 431 (1973), to relieve the defaulting party "vitiates the effect of *res judicata* and creates a hardship for the successful litigant by causing him to prosecute more than once his action and subjecting him to the possible loss of collecting his judgment."

This appeal is asking the Utah Court of Appeals to reverse the Trial Court's order granting of Dr. Joseph's motion for summary judgment. [R409-412] The Trial Court relied on certain of Dr. Joseph's factual allegations to conclude that Roth discovered his legal injury by October 13, 2004 or at the latest on January 5, 2005. Dr. Joseph alleges that Roth knew of his legal injury on October 13, 2004 when he discovered that the polypectomy site was not removed during the May 24, 2004 surgery or at least by January 5, 2005 when Roth obtained the medical records from the general surgeon. There is nothing in the Record to indicate that Roth knew

of his legal injury (knew of the negligence that caused his injury) on either of these dates. It was mere speculation. Roth adamantly denies that he discovered his legal injury (Dr. Joseph's negligence that caused Roth's injury) before 2007, thus, establishing a genuine issue of material fact.

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