2009

Larry Roth v. Ronald Joseph, M.D. and Northern Utah Healthcare Corporation dba St. Mark's Hospital : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

No Fraudulent Concealment Shown.

Mr. Roth's skeletal (1 page) argument based on the fraudulent concealment provisions in Utah Code section 78B-3-404(2)(b) merits little response, given that it is undisputed that Dr. Joseph told Mr. Roth that Dr. Voorhees had failed to remove the tattooed polypectomy site from his colon on May 24, 2004, and that the records Mr. Roth obtained on January 5, 2005 suggested that the problem might have been with the kind of tattoo ink used by Dr. Joseph.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS BROAD DISCRETION IN SETTING ASIDE THE DEFAULT CERTIFICATE AGAINST ST. MARK'S.

A trial court is "endowed with considerable latitude of discretion in granting or denying" motions to set aside a default. *E.J. Mayhew v. Standard Gilsonite Co.*, 376 P.2d 951, 952 (Utah 1962) (reversed entry of default judgment because defendant demonstrated desire to defend actions by moving with dispatch to have default set aside and to file answer). That discretion is particularly broad when, as here, it is exercised to set aside a default. Indeed, while Mr. Roth cites Utah cases that have upheld a trial court's refusal to vacate a default as a proper exercise of discretion, he cites no case holding that a lower court abused its discretion in vacating a default certificate.

In *Financial Banc Corp. v. Pingree & Dahle Inc.*, 880 P.2d 14, 16 (Utah Ct. App. 1994), this Court summarily rejected plaintiff's argument that the trial court had abused its discretion in setting aside a default certificate because of the defendant's failure to

timely appear or answer, stating that plaintiff's argument was "without merit and we decline to address it." *Id.* at 16, fn. 1.

Indeed, "it is quite uniformly regarded as an abuse of discretion to refuse to vacate a default judgment where there is reasonable justification or excuse for the defendant's failure to appear, and timely application is made to set it aside." *E.J. Mayhew*, 376 P.2d at 952. Because a request to set aside a default is "equitable in nature and addressed to the conscience of the court, all the attendant circumstances should be considered," *E.C. Olsen v. Cummings*, 565 P.2d 1123, 1124 (Utah 1977), and the court's "discretion should be exercised in furtherance of justice and should incline towards granting relief in a doubtful case to the end that the party may have a hearing." *Helgesen v. Inyangumia*, 636 P.2d 1079, 1081 (Utah 1981).

In support of its Motion to Set Aside the Default Certificate, St. Mark's set forth: the unintentional and inadvertent calendaring error by the paralegal in the office of its attorneys, HPS; plaintiff's failure to give notice to St. Mark's or HPS of his request for default certificate, despite his knowledge from the DOPL proceedings that St. Mark's was represented by HPS and intended to defend the case; St. Mark's immediate and repeated requests to Mr. Roth's counsel that he set aside the default certificate; and, upon the Mr. Roth's counsel's lack of cooperation, St. Mark's prompt filing of an appropriate motion in the trial court.

Under these circumstances, the trial court's finding of good cause shown is not "against the logic of the circumstances and so arbitrary and unreasonable as to shock

one's sense of justice . . . [or to have] resulted from bias, prejudice, or malice.” *Jones v. Layton/Okland*, 2009 UT 39, ¶27, 214 P.3d 859 (internal quotations omitted).

Furthermore, while the trial court's exercise of discretion to set aside the default certificate was clearly appropriate under Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 60(b), which allows a court to set aside a default judgment on motion and “upon such terms as are just” for “mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect...or any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment,” in this case no default judgment was ever entered. Furthermore, while the factors under Rule 60(b) may be relevant to the “good cause” determination under Rule 55(c), many federal cases recognize that the standard for setting aside a default certificate for “good cause shown” under Rule 55(c) is “a lesser standard” than the standard that must be shown for relief from judgments under Rule 60(b). *Dennis Garber G. & Assoc., Inc. v. Pack-Tech Int'l Corp.*, 115 F. 3d 767, 775 n. 6 (10th Cir. 1997); *Fabschutz v. Saxby's Coffee Inc.*, 2008 WL 686912 (D. Colo. 2008) (calendar error); *First Interstate Bank of Oklahoma v. Service Doors of America, Inc.*, 128 F.R.D. 679, 680 (W.D. Okla. 1989) (setting aside default resulting from defense counsel's mistaken docketing of answer date). Indeed, even under Rule 60(b), inadvertent attorney oversights have been found sufficient grounds to set aside a judgment. *See Hancock v. City of Oklahoma City*, 857 F.2d 1394, 1396 (10th Cir. 1988) (setting aside a summary judgment entered after plaintiff's counsel through “mistake or oversight” failed to respond to defendant's summary judgment motion, noting that “a mistake could occur in any office, no matter how well run,” and that it was “but a single incident, completely unintentional and not contentious in nature.”).

None of Mr. Roth's few cited cases are to the contrary. In *Mini Spas Inc. v. Industrial Commission*, 733 P. 2d 130 (Utah 1987), a judgment in an administrative proceeding was upheld where the employer "[w]ith knowledge that the notice was forthcoming and a response was necessary" failed to act in a diligent or reasonable manner and failed to file a response to an employee's claim until three weeks after the response was due. In *Stevens v. La Verkin City*, 2008 UT App 129, 183 P. 3d 1059, this Court upheld the trial court's entry of judgment as a result of a party's failure to respond to a summary judgment motion, noting "the lack of evidence or explanation" as to what happened between the time the motion was received in plaintiff's attorney's office and the attorney's apparent awareness of the motion. *Id.* at ¶15.

Similarly, in *Airkem Intermountain, Inc. v. Parker*, 513 P.2d 429 (Utah 1973), defense counsel was informed in February that the case was set for trial on September 21, but did not try to contact his client until 10 days before trial. The defendant did not contact his counsel until the first day of trial. Under these facts, the supreme court affirmed the trial court's refusal to set aside a judgment because defense counsel's actions did not constitute due diligence, much less establish excusable neglect to justify setting aside the judgment. *Id.* at 431. In *Black's Title, Inc. v. Utah State Insurance Department*, 1999 UT App 330, 991 P.2d 607, the court found it was not an abuse of discretion to refuse to set aside the judgment where the licensee, Black, "merely asserted that he was under a doctor's care and unable to work . . . [but] neither described the illness, nor explained how it wholly prevented him from taking the steps required to maintain contact with counsel, [his company], or the Department." *Id.* at ¶10. Thus, his

neglect in failing to answer until five months after service was not excusable. *Id.* at ¶¶4, 11.

In all of these cases, the court of review held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to vacate the judgment. Thus, none of these cases are inconsistent with this case, where the trial court exercised its discretion to set aside the default certificate. *See, e.g., Arbogast Family Trust v. River Crossings, LLC.*, 2008 UT App 277, ¶28, 191 P. 3d 39 (upholding the trial court’s refusal to vacate a default judgment as a reasonable exercise of its discretion, “[a]lthough we might have reached a different conclusion in the first instance”).

Indeed, in this case the only possible abuse of discretion would have been if the trial court had refused to vacate the default certificate. *See, e.g., Helgesen v. Inyangumia*, 630 P. 2d 1079 (Utah 1981). In *Helgesen*, a default judgment was entered against the defendant insurer, Allstate, after Allstate failed to timely answer the complaint. The motion to vacate established that Allstate’s adjuster, with whom the plaintiff’s counsel had been negotiating, was aware of the service of the complaint and summons but failed to forward it to Allstate’s attorney for answering. Nevertheless, the supreme court reversed the trial court’s refusal to vacate the default judgment, expressly noting that given the pre-suit negotiations between the insurance adjuster and plaintiff’s counsel, plaintiff’s counsel should have at least notified the adjuster before seeking a default, stating:

Common courtesy and ordinary professional conduct dictated that before proceeding to the court the [plaintiff’s attorney] should have made contact

with [defendant's representative] with whom he had been dealing with for so long, and to have made inquiry as to why an answer had not been filed.

Id. at 1081; *see also Lund v. Brown*, 2000 UT 75, 11 P. 3d 277 (prior notice that a party is seeking default judgment should always be given in a case where a party in default has appeared in the case).

In this case, after Mr. Roth initiated his action against Dr. Joseph and St. Mark's by filing his Notice of Intent to Commence Malpractice Action on May 9, 2007 with DOPL, St. Mark's appeared at the DOPL hearing with its retained counsel and informed Mr. Roth and the Division of its intention to defend the case on the merits. Thereafter, the parties agreed to waive their rights to a hearing, DOPL issued its certificate of compliance, and Mr. Roth filed his complaint in the trial court. Accordingly, under *Helgesen* and *Lund*, Mr. Roth's failure to provide St. Mark's or its counsel with notice of his intent to initiate default proceedings is simply one more reason why the trial court did not abuse its discretion in setting aside the default certificate.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ENTERING SUMMARY JUDGMENT IN FAVOR OF THE DEFENDANTS ON THE GROUND THAT PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM WAS BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

The trial court correctly ruled that plaintiff's claim was barred by the medical malpractice statute of limitations. The Utah Health Care Malpractice Act states in pertinent part:

A malpractice action against a health care provider shall be commenced within two years after the plaintiff or patient discovers, or through the use of reasonable diligence, should have discovered the injury, whichever first occurs, but not to exceed four years after the date of the alleged act, omission, neglect, or occurrence.

Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-404(1). The two year statute of limitations begins to run when the plaintiff or patient knows or reasonably should have discovered that they have suffered a “legal injury,” defined as knowledge both of an injury *and* that the injury may have been caused by negligence. *Foil v. Ballinger*, 601 P.2d 144, 148 (Utah 1979). “Discovery of legal injury, therefore, encompasses both awareness of physical injury and knowledge that the injury is or *may be* attributable to negligence.” *Chapman v. Primary Children’s Hosp.*, 784 P.2d 1181, 1184 (Utah 1989) (emphasis added). A plaintiff “need not determine the identity of the person responsible for his or her injury,” *McDougal v. Weed*, 945 P.2d 175, 177 (Utah Ct. App. 1997), or “have certain knowledge of negligence in order to have discovered it. All that is necessary is that the [plaintiff] be aware of facts that would lead an ordinary person, using reasonable diligence, to conclude that a claim for negligence may exist.” *Jensen v. IHC Hosps., Inc.*, 2003 UT 51, ¶61, 82 P.3d 1076.

A. The Undisputed Evidence Submitted in Support of Defendants’ Summary Judgment Motions Established That Plaintiff Knew Or Should Have Discovered His Legal Injury On October 13, 2004, Or At The Very Latest, On January 5, 2005.

Mr. Roth’s sole argument on the statute of limitations issue is based on his assertion that the trial court erred in holding that his claims were barred by the two year statute of limitations set forth above because in *Roth v. Pedersen*, 2009 UT App 313, this Court found that Mr. Roth discovered his legal injury, at the very latest, when he initiated legal action against Dr. Voorhees in May 2006. *Id.* at *3. Plaintiff’s reliance on this Court’s decision in *Pederson* is misplaced because the order appealed from in *Pederson* was an order granting the defendant judgment on the *pleadings* and not an order of

summary judgment. *Id.* at *1. Therefore, in contrast to this case, the trial court and this Court in *Pederson* could not consider any material facts outside of the pleadings. Even with that restriction, this Court upheld the dismissal because from the pleadings alone it could be determined the statute of limitations began to run at least by May of 2006 when plaintiff filed suit against Dr. Voorhees; thus his complaint against Dr. Pederson, filed in August of 2008, was untimely.

In contrast to the *Pederson* case, this case was decided on motions for summary judgment in which the trial court properly considered outside materials, including Mr. Roth's own deposition testimony that on October 13, 2004, Dr. Joseph performed a follow-up colonoscopy to Dr. Voorhees' surgery and told Mr. Roth that the segment of colon that Dr. Joseph had tattooed and which Dr. Voorhees had intended to remove was "still there" and "it wasn't removed." (R. 365-66.)

Indeed, at oral argument on Dr. Joseph's motion for summary judgment, Mr. Roth's counsel conceded that on October 13, 2004 Mr. Roth knew he had suffered an injury due to Dr. Voorhees' failure to resect the tattooed polypectomy site and that his conversation with Dr. Joseph that day had "set in motion" Mr. Roth's "pursuit" of litigation against Dr. Voorhees. Mr. Roth's counsel stated:

[I]n [the Pedersen] case the Court did find - - and we have appealed it, but it was a final judgment that the date of the discovery of the injury was October 13, 2004. Actually - - and I know opposing Counsel has raised some arguments on that. *I don't think we've ever challenged that. He knew on that date - - I think that's just a factual matter that on that date he was informed by Dr. Joseph that Dr. Voorhees had - - did not resect the polypectomy site. At that point in time he knew that the cancerous tumor was still there. So at that point in time he knew that - - you know, he suffered the injury.*

(Supp. R. 17) (emphasis added).

At that time on October 13th of 2004 Dr. Joseph displayed shock and indicated to Mr. Roth that he was in shock that Dr. Voorhees did not remove the polypectomy site. *At that point in time that set in motion a natural reaction on the part of Mr. Roth. He became extremely angry and agitated, and he directed his agitation at Dr. Voorhees and just set in motion at that point in time a pursuit of Dr. Voorhees.*

(Supp. R. 23) (emphasis added).

Thus, based on Mr. Roth's own deposition testimony and his counsel's admissions during oral argument, there was more than sufficient evidence to support the trial court's finding that as a matter of law Mr. Roth knew of his legal injury on October 13, 2004, and that therefore any claims filed after October 13, 2006 for any injuries arising out of his May 24, 2004 surgery were barred by the two year statute of limitations. Mr. Roth knew on October 13, 2004 that Dr. Voorhees had not removed the polypectomy site as intended, and this knowledge "set in motion" the period of two years in which Mr. Roth had the opportunity to further investigate and determine all parties who might be potentially liable for his injury, including Dr. Joseph.

Utah law is clear that a plaintiff "need not determine the identity of the person responsible for his or her injury," *McDougal v. Weed*, 945 P.2d 175, 177 (Utah Ct. App. 1997), or "have certain knowledge of negligence in order to have discovered it. All that is necessary is that the [plaintiff] be aware of facts that would lead an ordinary person, using reasonable diligence, to conclude that a claim for negligence may exist." *Jensen v. IHC Hosps., Inc.*, 2003 UT 51, ¶61, 82 P.3d 1076.

Furthermore, on January 5, 2005, Mr. Roth obtained a complete copy of his medical records from Dr. Joseph and Dr. Voorhees, including materials that indicated the inability to identify the India ink tattoos placed by Dr. Joseph and that the problem might be resolved in the future by using “differing inks”. (R. 396.) Thus, if not on October 13, 2004, then, at the very latest, the two year limitations period for Mr. Roth’s cause of action against Dr. Joseph and St. Mark’s began to run on January 5, 2005. Using either date, Mr. Roth’s Notice of Intent to Commence a Medical Malpractice Action, which was filed on May 9, 2007, was untimely.

In sum, the trial court’s conclusion is unassailable:

I further find that there are really – that there are no material facts or disputes, and that there’s one of two dates that the outside can be determined to be the operative date, either the date of October 13, 2004, or the outside January 5, 2005.

(R. 31.)

B. There Was No Evidence To Support Plaintiff’s Claim Of Fraudulent Concealment.

The Utah Health Care Malpractice Act further states that

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